





### **Olga Tennison Autism Research Centre** School of Psychology and Public Health

# Olga Tennison Autism Research Centre: Response to the 'What we have heard' report

ENQUIRIES
Professor Alison Lane
Director, OTARC
La Trobe University
Victoria 3086

T +61 3 9479 1162 E a.lane@latrobe.edu.au latrobe.edu.au latrobe.edu.au/otarc

### Disclaimer

The information contained in this publication is indicative only. While every effort is made to provide full and accurate information at the time of publication, the University does not give any warranties in relation to the accuracy and completeness of the contents. The University reserves the right to make changes without notice at any time in its absolute discretion, including but not limited to varying admission and assessment requirements, and discontinuing or varying courses. To the extent permitted by law, the University does not accept responsibility of liability for any injury, loss, claim or damage arising out of or in any way connected with the use of the information contained in this publication or any error, omission or defect in the information contained in this publication.

La Trobe University is a registered provider under the Commonwealth Register of Institutions and Courses for Overseas Students (CRICOS). La Trobe University CRICOS Provider Code Number 00115M

# Introduction

Approximately 15% of Australian children will meet criteria for a neurodevelopmental disability (NDD) resulting from differences in early brain development. These conditions, including Autism, significantly impact learning, communication, and behaviour. Many children will meet criteria for multiple diagnoses and be susceptible to poor mental health during their school years and beyond, reducing their and their family's wellbeing across the lifespan.

The world-renowned National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) in Australia has the promise to ensure better lives for Australians living with a significant and permanent disability, including their families and carers. It is evident that this scheme does not have the capacity to support all families living with someone with neurodevelopmental disability.

With one in ten Australian children in the NDIS, it is clear we need to identify neurodevelopmental vulnerability early and implement necessary community-based supports, ideally within the first 1000 days of life, thereby minimising longer-term support needs, as least for a proportion of this population. It is critical that this effort is undertaken in partnership with all levels of government, with the provision of supports to all children with disability and their families being a shared responsibility.

La Trobe University's Olga Tennison Autism Research Centre (OTARC) welcomes the invitation from the NDIS Review Committee to provide a response to the Interim Report - the *What we have heard report*<sup>1</sup>. Established in 2008, OTARC was the first dedicated Autism research centre in Australia. Our vision is for a world where Autistic people, their families and their carers thrive. Our research is internationally recognised as making an impact not just in Australia but globally.

At OTARC, our research aligns with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals.<sup>2</sup> We work to optimise impact for the Autistic and Autism communities through public accountability, community engagement, government and industry collaborations, and by using local paths to global change. Our research encompasses four program areas: Identification and Diagnosis, Supports and Practices for Daily Living, Educational and Vocational Engagement, and Health and Wellbeing.

Through our research to practice arm, we aim to support Autistic people to realise their full potential, actively participate in the community, including in education and employment, enjoy life, and make meaningful lifelong contributions based on their goals. This response to the Interim report focuses on providing evidence-based, community-driven recommendations that we hope will contribute to achieving these aims.

OTARC's recommendations draw on evidence from:

- Our four Research Program areas and accumulated clinical and professional expertise, including lived experience.
- Our embedded research to practice program at the Victorian Autism Specific Early Learning and Care Centre. We support approximately 50 Autistic toddlers and preschool aged children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Australian Government (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/; Relevant goals - 3. Good health and wellbeing, 4. Quality education, and 10. Reduced inequalities

using an evidence-based program called the Group-Early Start Denver Model (ESDM) incorporated within the La Trobe University Community Children's Centre.<sup>3</sup>

- An OTARC NDIS 'Conversation Session' where we discussed the What we have heard report (held in July 2023) involving researchers, clinicians, NDIS service providers (La Trobe University Community Children's Centre, Centre Manager and Clinical Manager), NDIS participants and NDIS applicants.
- Consultation with lived experience experts within OTARC (Autistic people, parents of Autistic people, and NDIS participants).

Our recommendations are grounded in the **social model of disability** and a **human rights approach**, acknowledging the intrinsic right to inclusion and that attitudes, practices, and structures create barriers that hinder individuals from reaching their full potential and enjoying equal rights within society. People living with disability encompass those with long-term physical, mental, cognitive, intellectual, and/or sensory difficulties. While our submission will primarily focus on Autism, many Autistic people have co-occurring conditions that are also disabling. Autistic people have individual support needs, strengths, priorities, and perspectives influenced by their identities, such as gender, age, sexuality, race, and cultural background. Due to these intersectional identities, Autistic people may encounter additional obstacles and inequalities. However, depending on circumstances they can thrive and make significant contributions to society.

As our research shows that Autistic people prefer using identity-first rather than person-first language,<sup>5</sup> we will use identity-first language (e.g. Autistic) throughout this submission.

# Contents

| Introduction   | 1    |
|--|------|
| Summary of recommendations   | 3    |
| 1. Why is the NDIS an oasis in a desert?   | 7    |
| 1.1 What supports from governments, business and the community are missing?                          | 7    |
| 1.2 Does the original vision need to be rethought because people with disability do not neatly fit i | into |
| silos or 'tiers'?  | 14   |
| 2. What does reasonable and necessary mean?  | 16   |
| 2.1 What frameworks or processes could help make this fundamental change?                            | 16   |
| 2.1.1 Workload and assessment  | 22   |
| 3. Why are there many more children in the NDIS than expected?                                       | 24   |
| 3.1 What is the best way to support children with disability and families?                           | 24   |
| 4. Why aren't NDIS markets working?  | 27   |
| 4.1 What needs to be done to ensure NDIS markets serve the interests of people with disability,      |      |
| rather than the other way round? Where will markets not work?  | 28   |
| 4.2 How can the scheme help participants become more independent; not more dependent?                | 29   |
| References   | 34   |
| Acknowledgments  | 38   |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> https://www.latrobe.edu.au/otarc/margot-prior-autism-intervention-centre

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD), Commonwealth of Australia (Department of Social Services) (2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Bury et al (2020); Kenny et al (2016)

# Summary of recommendations

### Recommendation 1.

Provision of a streamlined multi-departmental guide for NDIS participants, educators and education service providers on the division of responsibility for service provision with direct links to detailed explanations and process guides on how to access local educational supports that are consistent nationally.

### Recommendation 2.

Establishment of a national community of inclusive education practice<sup>6</sup> to improve inclusion and accessibility in education settings, to be funded by the Department of Social Security Information, Linkages and Capacity Building program.<sup>7</sup> The following interest groups should be included:

- education institution administrators (public, private, and specialist schools)
- educators (public, private, and specialist schools)
- governing bodies (e.g. State and Federal Departments of Education)
- individuals with disability and their families.

### Recommendation 3.

Increase connection between departments responsible for disability services at all levels of government to identify service gaps and plan on how to address these gaps at the appropriate government level.

### Recommendation 4.

Set a national target for all early childhood education and care settings and primary and secondary schools to have access to a multidisciplinary allied health team comprising a psychologist, speech therapist, occupational therapist and physiotherapist, working together with the centre/school educational team to support the student cohort utilising a transdisciplinary approach.

### Recommendation 5.

The Federal Government to facilitate the generation and implementation of a national inclusive education action plan with state and territory governments to deliver inclusive school environments across Australia, modelled on universal design principles, including:

- a working definition of inclusive education in the Australian context
- a funding agreement with states and territories
- step by step implementation plan with timelines for delivery
- a plan on how to evaluate success, as defined by the student and/or their family.

### Recommendation 6.

Initiate a National Cabinet discussion between states and territories to reach a commitment to expand community-based individual and group services and programs for people with disability. This commitment should include:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Lave & Wenger (1991)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In line with Recommendation 16 of The Senate Select Committee on Autism final report (2022)

an increase in community grants aimed at reducing isolation and mental ill health and increasing community participation in physical activities.

### Recommendation 7.

The Department of Social Security Information, Linkages, and Capacity Building program to allocate funding to develop state and territory specific resources and training for inclusion in physical activities and recreation facilities to increase community participation. These resources should be accessible, appropriate, and relevant to the target population, to be determined through community consultation, particularly in regional and remote communities.

### Recommendation 8.

State and territory governments to work with local councils to set low-cost entry fees for physical activities, exercise and sport to remove the cost barrier to participation for people with disability.

### Recommendation 9.

Promote greater connection and collaboration between Disability Employment Services providers and NDIS to reduce long-term unemployment which can further contribute to disability.

Recommendation 10. Explore and evaluate planner caseload optimisation to facilitate specialisation in:

- distinct areas of disability (e.g., neurodevelopmental disabilities; physical disabilities; psychosocial disabilities)
- physical/cognitive age groups of childhood, adolescence, adulthood, etc., to foster developmentally appropriate decision-making for clients.

Recommendation 11. Commit to training planners in their area of speciality through traditional (e.g. research) and non-traditional (e.g. direct consultation with lived experience experts) means.

Recommendation 12. Increase time allocation for individual NDIS participant/applicant decision making.

Recommendation 13. Update internal procedures to consider comprehensive profiles such as sensory processing, executive function, strengths and interest, connections to culture and community, self-care and independence skills, and social and communication skills -to determine what is 'reasonable and necessary' for a given individual. To facilitate this, the NDIS should develop and implement an interactive tool to be used by applicants/participants prior to a planner meeting to establish that individual's context and enable planner perspective taking.

Recommendation 14. Include provisions for people with disabilities to obtain funding for gym memberships and other community participation initiatives based on participant goals.

Recommendation 15. State and territory governments to implement Social Attention and Communication Surveillance (SACS) nationally as recommended by the Senate Select Committee for Autism via all primary health and early education and care (ECEC) professionals.

Recommendation 16. State and territory governments to promote the use of the free ASDetect app for parents.

Recommendation 17. Implementation of Recommendation 12 of the Senate Select Committee on Autism - "...the Australian Government develop guidelines on autism-friendly service design through the National Autism Strategy in order to help service providers tailor services and service environments to meet the needs of autistic individuals."8

Recommendation 18. Implementation of Recommendation 9 of the Senate Select Committee on Autism - "...National Disability Insurance Agency continue to improve the capacity of its staff, including Local Area Coordinators, to provide better support to autistic people. This should include a focus on both understanding and meeting autistic participants' support coordination needs".9 In addition, we recommend:

> that this capacity building be extended to service providers delivering supports for NDIS participants.

Recommendation 19. The NDIS recommend review of the barriers to inclusion support and systematically remove or significantly reduce these barriers to facilitate more streamlined access to inclusion supports.

Recommendation 20. State, territory and local governments mandate all new developments and significant upgrades to existing developments of public spaces meet universal design principles.

Recommendation 21. Barriers to NDIS registration should be identified and minimised to facilitate registration by more providers who meet NDIS evidence-base standards.

Recommendation 22. The NDIS should introduce a more effective monitoring program of registered providers which focuses on evaluating the quality of the programs being delivered and the measurable outcomes for NDIS participants.

Recommendation 23. NDIS plan development should incorporate community participation goals and active inclusion as a priority.

Recommendation 24. States and Territory governments to engage in an active public education campaign on Autism, with the support of the Australian Government Department of Social Services, to:

- dispel myths regarding a 'right way' to engage socially.
- increase awareness and acceptance of Autistic social-communication styles, with an aim to facilitate social inclusion of Autistic people.
- facilitate access to co-produced public mental health material specific to Autistic people, such as The Suicide Response Project.

Recommendation 25. The NDIS to adopt a definition of evidence-based practice that acknowledges the intersection of research evidence, clinical practice and expertise and the clients' values and preferences, ALL underpinned by lived experience.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Senate Select Committee on Autism (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Senate Select Committee on Autism (2022)

Recommendation 26. States and territory governments to increase dedicated and ongoing financial support for non-profit organisations, prioritising those who use transdisciplinary approaches to take advantage of their deep knowledge of, and historical ties to, the disability sector.

Recommendation 27. Incorporate regular monitoring of service providers' evidence-based practice use, including active client outcomes monitoring. Expecting consumers to discern evidence-based practices that will control markets is unrealistic.

Recommendation 28. Extend service providers' registration to more allied health providers to ensure accountability through periodic audits and to promote inclusive and transdisciplinary practices.

Recommendation 29. Encourage collaborative efforts among all professionals to ensure holistic support for NDIS clients, including focusing on their families. Ultimately, this approach seeks to establish a dynamic, transparent, and diverse NDIS ecosystem that empowers individuals with disabilities and their families, ensuring their rights to quality support and well-informed decision-making.

# 1. Why is the NDIS an oasis in a desert?

# 1.1 What supports from governments, business and the community are missing?

Our researchers, clinicians and lived experience experts describe significant gaps in support available to Australians with disability during OTARC's NDIS Conversation. They especially noted the closing of numerous services previously providing supports in the following areas:

- 1.1.1. Education
- 1.1.2. Community services
- 1.1.3. Employment services

In addition, in several of our studies of Autistic people and their parents/carers/families, participants expressed concern about the availability of services across the lifespan, <sup>10</sup> echoing a recent research project by the University of Melbourne. The study investigated the experiences of working-age Australians with disabilities, who were not NDIS participant's, in finding and utilising necessary supports and services in Victoria, South Australia and Tasmania. <sup>11</sup> Findings revealed a fragmented support landscape, inconsistent costs, eligibility criteria, and information availability. Most respondents deemed their support inadequate due to accessibility, information gaps, and unclear service paths. A significant portion had unsuccessfully applied for NDIS funding, and disparities in access emerged based on factors like location, income, and demographics.



We must ENSURE that nothing is taken away from those who need it or limited to a certain "population" of disabled people, WITHOUT first identifying and filling in the gaps that will be left when NDIS changes its access and eligibility criteria.

Associate Professor Josephine Barbaro – OTARC Principal Research Fellow and mother of an Autistic NDIS participant

### 1.1.1 Education

Around one in five children will likely have additional learning needs, but supports in educational settings are consistently being culled, even for those with a significant disability. As recently as August 3, 2023, the Victorian Department of Education announced more than 80 visiting teacher positions will be culled. These roles provide crucial services to children with additional learning needs (and thankfully this decision was reversed). Thus, even while the NDIS Review Committee is considering means of improving Tier 1 and 2 supports for people with disability, cuts to these supports continue to affect those in need of services. It is important we provide more, not fewer, resources in schools to meet the learning needs of vulnerable students.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Dissanayake et al (2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Olney et al (2022)

In addition to needing significant learning supports, education settings can be traumatic for Autistic students, with the majority in primary school and beyond experiencing significant stigma, often resulting in bullying. <sup>12</sup> The Australian Broadcasting Corporation has released a summary of research indicating that students with disability endure bullying and exclusion in schools with 70% of these students feeling excluded from activities and events, and 65% experiencing bullying. <sup>13</sup> Only 27% of students with disability felt they received the support they needed to learn in the classroom. Feedback from education service providers, researchers and lived experience experts indicates critical gaps in support provision for students accessing education at all levels, undermining school engagement, social adjustment, and academic achievement. Students have difficulty in accessing the necessary supports to learn and participate fully in education.

A key issue is the knowledge gap regarding what is best practice inclusive education for students with diverse learning needs. While good examples of inclusive education practices exist, this knowledge is not shared and replicated. Moreover, in Victoria, the Department of Education has made accessing mainstream schools out of designated school zones (excluding specialist schools) increasingly difficult, reducing parents' ability to seek out good inclusive educational environments<sup>14</sup>. Carers can apply for exceptions based on compassionate grounds, but this requirement places an additional burden on them. It is therefore critical that ALL schools are supported to build inclusive practices to accommodate ALL students, regardless of their disability.

Fostering stronger connections between different types of schools within the educational landscape is hugely beneficial. A wealth of knowledge and expertise exists in special schools, providing the opportunity to equip educational settings to deliver evidence-based inclusive practices, thereby embracing the diversity of all learners and delivering equitable education. There is significant need for Departments of Education to increase, or at the very least, maintain, dedicated disability support roles which are not limited to behavioural supports alone but that have a broader focus of accommodating all learning styles.

Accessing resources to support individual students with additional needs well is also a barrier, with education providers reporting:

- overly complex and time-consuming applications for state-based supports
- lack of clarity regarding federal, state, and local government responsibilities.

Many Autistic students in mainstream education settings do not receive individual disability support funding. This means that these and other neurodivergent students (e.g. those with ADD/ADHD) face considerable learning challenges, often due to accompanying executive functioning difficulties. Consequently, without additional support, most of these students fail to thrive academically.

### **Proposed solutions**

Education settings represent a crucial intervention point where all students can be nurtured, guided, and empowered to reach their full potential, and from an early age. These settings play a vital role in fostering growth and development for all students, regardless of their learning challenges. By offering broad-based supports, it is possible to create an inclusive and empowering educational system that helps vulnerable students overcome obstacles and succeed both socially and academically.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Dissanayake et al (2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The Age (2023); Schools Vic (reviewed June 2023)

An important initiative for Autistic students, their families and educators introduced as part of the Helping Children with Autism initiative, and that has been maintained is Positive Partnerships which works "together with parents, carers and educators of school-aged children on the autism spectrum to provide current, relevant and evidence informed information through workshops and online resources." This highly valued and freely accessible initiative has built significant capacity across the sector to support Autistic students and is a fine example of best practice that should be built upon.



Just imagine what we could achieve if we provide adequate supports for all neurodivergent students within their school day for 15 years from kindergarten onwards to build capacity prior to their transition into adulthood.

Professor Cheryl Dissanayake AM - Endowed Chair in Autism research, OTARC

In 2022, the Senate Select Committee on Autism proposed that all mainstream schools work toward becoming inclusive schools, modelled on universal design principles with Springbank Secondary College given as an example based on its outcomes upon committing to becoming fully inclusive. <sup>16</sup> Building system capacity to deliver inclusive education is a key priority under Australia's Disability Strategy 2021-2031.

Four areas of opportunity for change are provided below regarding the provision of disability supports in education that work together to bring Australia closer to delivering inclusive education where developmentally vulnerable students can thrive.

## 1. Education and training

### Recommendation 1.

Provision of a streamlined multi-departmental guide for NDIS participants, educators and education service providers on the division of responsibility for service provision with direct links to detailed explanations and process guides on how to access local educational supports that are consistent nationally.

### 2. Information sharing

### Recommendation 2.

Establishment of a national community of inclusive education practice<sup>17</sup> to improve inclusion and accessibility in education settings, to be funded by the Department of Social Security Information, Linkages and Capacity Building program.<sup>18</sup> The following interest groups should be included:

- education institution administrators (public, private, and specialist schools)
- educators (public, private, and specialist schools)
- governing bodies (e.g. State and Federal Departments of Education)

<sup>15</sup> https://www.positivepartnerships.com.au/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Commonwealth of Australia (2022, pg. 4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Lave & Wenger (1991)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> In line with Recommendation 16 of The Senate Select Committee on Autism final report (2022)

### Recommendation 3.

individuals with disability and their families.

Increase connection between departments responsible for disability services at all levels of government to identify service gaps and plan on how to address these gaps at the appropriate government level.

## 3. Multidisciplinary care

### Recommendation 4.

Set a national target for all early childhood education and care settings and primary and secondary schools to have access to a multidisciplinary allied health team comprising a psychologist, speech therapist, occupational therapist and physiotherapist, working together with the centre/school educational team to support the student cohort utilising a transdisciplinary approach.

We recommend that multidisciplinary allied health supports be available within all schools to foster learning and participation of all students. Currently, some schools have access to a psychologist, with the psychologist: student ratios frequently exceeding the 1:500 recommended as best practice by the Australian Psychological Society and the Australian Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools Association. Adding speech therapists, occupational therapists and physiotherapists increases capacity for assessment and support for mental health, language and communication, social and physical development.

The allied health team would partner with educational school staff using a transdisciplinary approach to build supports for learning as well as social and emotional wellbeing and participation. Implementing such supports on a broad scale within schools creates an environment where all students, regardless of their specific needs, can access the necessary resources and assistance to thrive. This approach fosters a culture of inclusivity, empathy, and understanding, reinforcing that every student deserves an equal opportunity to succeed.

In addition to supporting all developmentally vulnerable students, this approach will reduce the number of children accessing NDIS plans whereby those with additional needs will receive the supports they need at school. Such a model of support, provided within all education settings, including in the early years, will be more economical than the alternative of children with a developmental disability accessing individualised NDIS plans. However, if the school-based supports aren't sufficient for given students, the allied health team can refer and partner with relevant external services that may require individual funding via a NDIS plan.

### 4. Universal supports

### Recommendation 5.

The Federal Government to facilitate the generation and implementation of a national inclusive education action plan with state and territory governments to deliver inclusive school environments across Australia, modelled on universal design principles, including:

- a working definition of inclusive education in the Australian context
- a funding agreement with states and territories
- step by step implementation plan with timelines for delivery

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Australian Psychological Society (2022); Australian Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools Association (2021)

 a plan on how to evaluate success, as defined by the student and/or their family.

Currently, additional supports for individual students are funded by applying for education inclusion support. This process is complex, time-consuming, and unnecessarily singles out the student with disability. The reality, however, is that many students require additional support to learn. Financial support to schools should be estimated based on the percentage of students that are expected to require learning supports, considering the school population. This approach fosters a more comprehensive and easily accessible educational environment for all, without exclusions, and enables some flexibility in meeting all student's needs. Embracing a population-centric funding approach ensures learning requirements of all vulnerable children are met with supports delivered in an integrated, comprehensive, and equitable way. It also has the potential to eliminate the need for schools to present the "worst version" of individual student's needs to gain access to support. The NDIS would only be required to fund additional supports needed over and above this universal support structure.

### 1.1.2 Community services

The introduction of the NDIS has severely impacted the availability of community services for people with disability. Cuts to day programs (e.g., those run by the Melbourne City Mission) disproportionately impact adults with disability, with many losing even the limited access to the community that these programs provided. The absence of such programs also impacts on their families, with the flow-on effect being reduced family participation in work and leisure activities.



So, one of the first things they took that was very important in the community was removing funding from the councils. The council used to provide support for all people with disability, whether under the NDIS or not, to improve community participation meant for people who may not be eligible for the NDIS but needed some support. That's gone.

Dr Nancy Sadka - OTARC Senior Research Associate and Mother of three Autistic NDIS participants

There is a lack of state funding for proactive and protective community services. For example, the National Disability Services expressed disappointment in the Victorian 2023-2024 budget as no targeted funding was allocated to the Victorian Disability Advocacy Program for abuse prevention. The budget also failed to allocate funding for the promotion of good practice in disability services to complement funding for regulation, which includes \$12.4 million for the Victorian Disability Worker Commission and the Victorian Disability Services Commission<sup>20</sup>.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> National Disability Services (2023)

# Promoting Inclusivity: Enhancing physical recreation for **Autistic people**

Certain groups, such as young Autistic individuals, encounter additional challenges that hinder their participation in community activities that promote exercise and social interaction. Traditional avenues like gyms and local sports and recreation clubs often do not cater to their specific needs, exacerbating their exclusion. The reduction of community services since the introduction of the NDIS has further compounded this issue, limiting their access to structured exercise opportunities.



### **Challenges:**

- 1. Limited participation: Young Autistic individuals are less likely to participate in mainstream community activities due to the lack of accommodation of sensory, communication, and social needs. This leads to reduced opportunities for exercise and interaction with peers and poorer physical and mental health.21
- 2. Lack of tailored activities: The existing community activities often lack the necessary adjustments and accommodations to make them accessible and enjoyable for Autistic people, perpetuating their exclusion.<sup>22</sup>
- 3. Dependency on structured avenues: With limited options in the current funding structure, it is easier for Autistic individuals to use their NDIS funding to exercise with professional staff rather than with peers or friends, perpetuating the medical model of disability and hindering their right to participate on an equal basis in recreation.<sup>23</sup>
- 4. Exercise is perceived as a luxury: Disability is a predisposing factor to chronic health conditions such as obesity, diabetes, osteoporosis, cancer, and depression. These health issues are not inevitable and can be prevented or better managed with exercise. People with disability who do not exercise are 50% more likely to have at least one chronic health condition.<sup>24</sup>

### Importance:

- Wellbeing: Equal access to physical activities fosters wellbeing by addressing the physical, emotional, and social needs of Autistic people. It promotes self-esteem, confidence, and better overall quality of life.
- Community Integration: Accessible activities and facilities support the participation of Autistic people into the broader community, encouraging positive interactions and reducing social isolation.
- Human Rights Perspective: Denying equal access to opportunities violates human rights principles that advocate for inclusivity and equal treatment for all members of society, irrespective of their circumstances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Shields & Synnot (2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> McKenzie et al (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Shields et al (unpublished data, 2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Rimmer & Lai (2017)

Cost, including entry fees, is consistently given as the key reason for non-participation in exercise by people with disability. By embracing an inclusive approach to physical activity, we can empower Autistic people to lead healthier and more socially connected lives.

# **Proposed solutions**

### Recommendation 6.

Initiate a National Cabinet discussion between states and territories to reach a commitment to expand community-based individual and group services and programs for people with disability. This commitment should include:

 an increase in community grants aimed at reducing isolation and mental ill health and increasing community participation in physical activities.

### Recommendation 7.

The Department of Social Security Information, Linkages, and Capacity Building program to allocate funding to develop state and territory specific resources and training for inclusion in physical activities and recreation facilities to increase community participation. These resources should be accessible, appropriate, and relevant to the target population, to be determined through community consultation, particularly in regional and remote communities.

### Recommendation 8.

State and territory governments to work with local councils to set low-cost entry fees for physical activities, exercise and sport to remove the cost barrier to participation for people with disability.

### 1.1.3 Employment services

OTARC has undertaken a large body of research on employment of Autistic people to identify barriers and enablers to sustainable employment.<sup>25</sup> In doing so, we have also reviewed the effectiveness of assisted employment supports within the Disability Employment Service (DES) for Autistic people, finding that effective supports had the one common factor - providers understood Autism and the needs of Autistic adults.<sup>26</sup> We also identified a significant knowledge gap that requires specific education and training to meet the needs of Autistic people. Moreover, one of the limiting factors in sustainable employment is the endurance of mental health issues which also requires support and understanding by employers.<sup>27</sup>

### Proposed solution

### Recommendation 9.

Promote greater connection and collaboration between Disability Employment Services providers and NDIS to reduce long-term unemployment which can further contribute to disability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Hedley et al (2017b; 2018c; 2019; 2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Hayward & Flower (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Hayward et al (2022)

# 1.2 Does the original vision need to be rethought because people with disability do not neatly fit into silos or 'tiers'?

The original vision of the NDIS to support people with disability, be it acquired or inherited, so that they can participate in and contribute to the community is a laudable vision. This vision was never reliant on people with disability fitting into silos or tiers but on an ambition of inclusion and available service provision.



It was stated clearly that the NDIS shouldn't be the only way disabled people are supported - but that is still what happened. It again creates a dichotomy of "those who are deserving" of support/help and those who are not. Just like the Disability Support Pension (DSP), where you can miss out on support by 1 point and the allocation of those points is by and large dependent on the rater and their knowledge/understanding of your condition(s), how the condition(s) affect you, and how these interact. I think it would be better if all disabled people were supported under the NDIS, but that the supports they receive match what their needs are - the trouble being that the impact of the inaccessible environment/services has been grossly underestimated.

Dr Melissa Gilbert - OTARC Postdoctoral Researcher and NDIS participant

A scheme rethink is required to address the market failures it has spurred (see response to Question 4 for more detail), and the insufficiently nuanced processes put in place that have failed to address the diverse needs of the population with disability adequately. In addition to any market changes, the following questions need addressing:

### Who should be in the NDIS?

Children and adults with disabilities who cannot be fully supported within their family and local community (including early childhood education and care settings, school, places of work, and recreation) need to be in the NDIS so that the limits their disability imposes upon them do not prevent their participation and contribution in the community.

### How can we tell?

By asking the person, their family and/or care partners about their functional capacity to participate in ways that are meaningful to them. And by understanding their developmentally appropriate tasks -for example, a school aged child needs to access school regardless of their disability. If the child has sufficient functional capacity and can receive adequate support from their family and school to learn and participate, they do not need to be in the NDIS. If they need significant accommodations to do so, they will need a NDIS plan to access these accommodations.

## What processes should exist?

Accessible and humane processes are needed that do not require the worst version of oneself to be presented to access a NDIS plan. Planners need to be well trained to work with people with disability and their families, to empower them, and to understand their developmentally appropriate strengths, interests and goals and how best to address these within their life context. It is critically important that the decision maker has had direct and meaningful contact with the NDIS applicant:



I'm very new to this whole space. I've just put in a NDIS application for myself. So haven't even had my first planning meeting. But what struck me when I was reading the report<sup>28</sup> was that there's a disconnect between the people who you are actually talking to and getting to know and those who are making the decisions. And I think that's where the reasonable and necessary comes in because the person has to be familiar with that particular person. To know what is reasonable and necessary for that person. So I think if we moved more of the power from the faceless bureaucrats to be, you know, dramatic, to the people who are actually connected to the participants, I think that might make a difference.

OTARC PhD candidate and NDIS plan applicant

# **Proposed solutions**

Please refer to recommendation/s for Question 2.1.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Australian Government (2023)

# 2. What does reasonable and necessary mean?

# 2.1 What frameworks or processes could help make this fundamental change?

The human rights approach<sup>29</sup> and the social model of disability are in alignment with the overarching aims of the NDIS and are echoed in the seven principles used to create individual NDIS plans and what is 'reasonable and necessary'.<sup>30</sup> In practice, however, 'reasonable and necessary' seems poorly understood by planners and decision-makers alike as well as NDIS participants.

As outlined in our Introduction, NDIS participants have individual intersectional identities (age, sex, gender, ethnicity, geographical location, language, income, family etc.) and experiences of the world. These contextual markers shape their individual goals, aspirations, and life priorities. It is essential to consider that individual's perspective to determine what is 'reasonable and necessary' for them to live a fulfilling life. This must also include recognising that the person applying for a NDIS plan, be that the person with a disability or their family/carer, is the expert on their disability experience and in defining what is 'reasonable and necessary' for them. This becomes increasingly complex in light of the decreased funding for disability supports within the community, including in education, as summarised in our response to Question 1.



"Reasonable and necessary" means support that allows someone to live their life like anyone else. If their disability prevents them from participating in life that they otherwise could WITHOUT supports, then this is reasonable and necessary.

Associate Professor Josephine Barbaro – OTARC Principal Research Fellow and mother of an Autistic NDIS participant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Australian Human Rights Commission

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> National Disability Insurance Scheme (reviewed 2021)

A core issue resides is the system's failure to regard individuals as unique entities. Instead, it categorises them into a limited set of standard disability profiles, undermining the system's ability to consider each individual's distinctiveness and inherent value. The NDIS needs to redesign this process to include the intricacies and diversities within people's experiences.



It (the NDIS) seems that individual employees and the NDIA as a whole seem to have this idea that there are certain types of disabled people. For example, there are people in wheelchairs, there are people with intellectual disabilities, there's maybe a handful of people that they see as disabled, and those are the kinds of supports and services that they see as reasonable and necessary. They're trying to fit everyone in a box and not looking at that individual person's needs.

Dr Melissa Gilbert - OTARC Postdoctoral Researcher and NDIS participant

Taking the perspective of persons with disability can be difficult. Unconscious assumptions and cognitive biases can lead to adverse outcomes when assessing what is 'reasonable and necessary', particularly when people mask<sup>31</sup> their disability to survive and avoid stigma, often to the detriment of their physical and mental wellbeing.

So, **context and perspective taking** in the processing of NDIS claims seems to be where confusion and unintentional biases appear, leading to participants feeling that decisions made are unfair or inappropriate to their circumstances. A good example of this is detailed on page 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Masking is the practice of concealing one's natural Autistic traits and behaviours in social situations by imitating or mimicking neurotypical behaviours. It involves suppressing or camouflaging aspects of one's true self to fit societal expectations and norms, often resulting in mental and emotional strain.

# Is Exercise a Luxury for people with disability?

The NDIS does not fund gym membership because it is considered a day-to-day living cost not related to disability support needs. Exercising at the gym is a popular physical activity in Australia – 35% of adults aged 15 and older participated in this activity in the past 12 months<sup>32</sup> but it does not follow that the cost of gym membership is a 'day to day' living cost<sup>33</sup>. The NDIS perspective is that because gym membership is 'discretionary' or luxury spending for people without disability, it should also be considered as such for people with disability. However, for many people with disabilities, exercise is neither discretionary nor a luxury, it becomes a functional need and right with the reality that exercise is essential for them to maintain their physical function and overall wellbeing.<sup>34</sup>

"for young people with disability, access to a gym for exercise is not a luxury - if they want to continue to maintain their physical function, they need to exercise."

- Professor Nora Shields, OTARC Research Director

People with disabilities often report encountering cost-related obstacles when trying to participate in physical activities.<sup>35</sup> Paradoxically, an explicit NDIS policy excludes funding for gym memberships, in concert with local councils also not routinely offering alternatives for people with disability, together creating barriers to essential exercise opportunities in community settings.

### **Challenges:**

- 1. **Misconception of luxury:** The prevailing notion that exercise is a discretionary activity perpetuates the belief that gym memberships for people with disabilities are unnecessary or indulgent.
- 2. **Exclusionary policies:** The current NDIS policy excludes gym memberships, limiting access to inclusive community exercise environments for people with disability.<sup>36</sup>
- 3. **Undervaluing public spaces:** The intrinsic value of exercising in public spaces for people with disabilities is often underestimated or overlooked.

### Importance:

- **Wellbeing:** Physical activity is fundamental to maintaining physical function, independence, and overall wellbeing for many people with disability.
- Addressing exclusion: By revising NDIS policies to include gym memberships and promoting exercise as an essential need, we can mitigate barriers and enhance access to beneficial exercise environments. Increasing the number of adults who are physically active, including those with disability, is also cost-effective<sup>37</sup>.
- Empowering public spaces: Recognising the value of exercising with peers in public spaces emphasises the inclusivity of such environments, encourages equal participation, irrespective of ability and promotes positive societal attitudes to disability.<sup>38</sup>

Equal access to exercise opportunities contributes to improved physical health, overall wellbeing, and enhanced quality of life for people living with disability.

<sup>32</sup> AusPlay

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Administrative Appeals Tribunal of Australia (2019)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Verschuren et al (2016)

<sup>35</sup> McKenzie et al (2023; 2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> National Disability Insurance Scheme (reviewed 2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Eckermann et al (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Shields et al (2023)

During OTARC's NDIS Conversation, the following example was given: A NDIS application was refused because the person with a hidden disability could drive. Their NDIS planner stated, "if you can drive, if you are capable of driving, then you are not disabled." This is the type of ill-considered comment which is made to people with disability with sad regularity. The NDIS Conversation also highlighted the difficulty in allowing sufficient time to ensure that NDIS participants can communicate what is 'reasonable and necessary' for them/their dependent to their NDIS planner.

Reasonable and necessary. That has been my headache since the roll out of the NDIS. I have two children with high needs and considered under the scheme as profound, meaning that all their life and for the rest of their lives they will need substantial funding to be well supported. It took me a year to prepare for the planning meeting and account for every hour of every day, 365 days, 8,760 hours, and it did not stop there. What is reasonable and necessary for my children is completely different for each of them and the over 500 thousand participants accessing the scheme.

I had to show the planner who initially agreed to a one hour meeting per child that we have a complex situation at hand. She was confident that we can get it all done in the time frame and from the first 15 minutes it was very apparent that we were not going to agree on what is "reasonable and necessary" for my children. Six hours later, we were still pouring over all the documents, the daily planning, the weekend, the public holidays, I even had set up the cost per line item, per hour, per day, and for the whole year.



It is what is reasonable and necessary for them to thrive in the community.

I didn't want the funding for a gym membership, but wanted the funding for a support worker to accompany them to go swimming because if they don't exercise, it affects their health, and they don't sleep during the night. If they don't sleep, I am awake all night, I am tired and can't go to work in the morning and will be "at risk" of losing the precious few casual hours of paid work I had at the time. By giving the repercussion and the outcome on what's going to happen if I don't get the funding and why I urgently needed, I was able to get it.

After the first year I documented the application of the plan, including where we started, how did it happen, and what was the outcome. So that meant that the following year, I kept arguing I'm not adding hours to the plan. It is not my problem if the cost of the NDIS is going up; the cost of the hours is going up, but I am requiring the same amount of hours. And that's a point that is always missed when caregivers are talking with their planners. Oh, my word, your plan now is going to be over \$200,000! It's not my fault if the cost rate per hour on Sunday is currently at \$118 an hour to access a support service. It is not my fault. But it is reasonable

and necessary for my son to attend his friendship group. I need my son to go swimming 4 times a week so he can sleep all night so we all can rest.

Reasonable and necessary funding should be based on the outcome for my children, for the whole family, and for the community.

I keep arguing and I keep advocating that my son, bless his heart, my youngest son is part of a friendship group, peer-like group with some neurodiversity, but most of them are what they consider in the world neurotypical. He goes out with them, he goes camping, he goes Friday night, he does all that I because I was able to argue that it is his right: to be with his peers and to be loved in the community. Everybody in the community knows who my son is because he goes to the same fish and chip shop. They know who he is. They wait for him. They wait for his wallet to come out. They are empowering his social skills. They're practicing with him. He does all of that, but it's been a work in progress because I was able to argue what is reasonable and necessary for him to live 10 years from now as independently as possible.

Personally, a great outcome from the NDIS and what became support for what is reasonable and necessary for my children, translated into supporting me to commit to re-join the workforce on a fixed part-time basis.

Dr Nancy Sadka - OTARC Senior Research Associate and Mother of three Autistic NDIS participants

'Reasonable and necessary' means you can live your day-to-day life without having to go to extreme lengths to have access to things that people without disability have. See the case study on page 21 for an example.



# The case for Autism-friendly Programs – swimming lessons

Autistic Children deserve equal access to essential skill-development activities like swimming lessons. Unfortunately, the absence of Autism-friendly practices in local swim centres forces parents to go to great lengths – both figuratively and literally - to ensure their child's participation. These challenges not only disrupt their child's access to enriching experiences but also place immense burdens on parents who are already navigating complex care schedules.



### Challenges:

- 1. Lack of Autism-friendly activities: The absence of swim centres offering autism-friendly lessons leaves parents with limited options for their child's aquatic education, impeding their development and water safety skills.
- 2. Burden on parents: The need to tirelessly advocate, educate, and search for suitable facilities often leaves parents exhausted, diverting focus from quality family time and holistic child development.
- 3. Safety concerns: The inability to access swimming lessons tailored to their needs increases the risk of drowning for Autistic children.<sup>39</sup>

### Importance:

- Equal opportunity: Autism-friendly swimming lessons ensure that Autistic children can access vital life skills and engage in activities like their peers, promoting inclusion and equal opportunities.
- Empowerment for parents: Access to nearby, tailored swimming lessons would empower parents to spend more quality time with their children and reduce the burden of advocating for basic services.
- Life-saving impact: With drowning being a significant cause of death among Autistic children, the implementation of Autism-friendly swimming lessons holds potential to save lives and foster water safety awareness.

We need to create a future where Autistic children can confidently participate in every-day activities to gain valuable skills while reducing safety risks. By addressing this pressing issue, we are not only fostering individual growth but also contributing to the overall wellbeing and safety of our communities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Royal Life Saving Australia (2023)

### 2.1.1 Workload and assessment

From an administrative standpoint, it's apparent that the workload faced by NDIS planners is substantial. Understanding the full range of distinct disability profiles, let alone the different profiles within a single disability category such as Autism, presents a considerable challenge. This complexity necessitates a comprehensive understanding of diverse cases and contexts. Given these circumstances, it's understandable that planners inadvertently rely on convenient stereotypes or make hasty judgments, with the pressure to manage a demanding caseload leading to oversimplifications in their approach.

Establishing what is 'reasonable and necessary' to support a person with disabilities should be contingent upon a fundamental question: Would this level of support still be essential if the individual did not have the disability? This criterion prompts us to acknowledge that one's disability status and context do not exclusively dictate support needs. If the support would not be imperative in the absence of the disability, then categorising it as 'reasonable and necessary' is justifiable. Conversely, suppose the support would be necessary regardless of the disability. In that case, it might point to a broader need applicable to most people and more reasonable to be managed from outside of the NDIS.



Speak to those with lived experience – identifying what are the "core" things that allow people to live their life like anyone else. And developing a "network tree" that identifies where there are possible blockages to "living life like anyone else" (within the possibilities based on the person's disability).

Associate Professor Josephine Barbaro - OTARC Principal Research Fellow and mother of an Autistic NDIS participant

There is opportunity to improve perspective-taking and to have a deeper understanding of individual context by planners. One approach is to Incorporate a planning tool to represent the diverse profile of disability of the NDIS applicant/participant. Tools exist to do just this. For example, the Positive Partnerships Planning tool<sup>40</sup> allows young people to focus on different areas that contribute to their experiences of everyday life based on the diversity wheel. It includes descriptions of sensory processing, executive function, strengths and interest, connections to culture and community, self-care and independence skills, and social and communication skills.



<sup>40</sup> https://planningtool.positivepartnerships.com.au/

# **Proposed solutions**

To enable fairer decision-making regarding NDIS client's needs:

- Recommendation 10. Explore and evaluate planner caseload optimisation to facilitate specialisation in:
  - distinct areas of disability (e.g., neurodevelopmental disabilities; physical disabilities; psychosocial disabilities)
  - physical/cognitive age groups of childhood, adolescence, adulthood, etc., to foster developmentally appropriate decision-making for clients.
- Recommendation 11. Commit to training planners in their area of speciality through traditional (e.g. research) and non-traditional (e.g. direct consultation with lived experience experts) means.
- Recommendation 12. Increase time allocation for individual NDIS participant/applicant decision making.
- Recommendation 13. Update internal procedures to consider comprehensive profiles such as sensory processing, executive function, strengths and interest, connections to culture and community, self-care and independence skills, and social and communication skills -to determine what is 'reasonable and necessary' the a given individual. To facilitate this, the NDIS should develop and implement an interactive tool to be used by applicants/participants prior to a planner meeting to establish that individual's context and enable planner perspective taking.
- Recommendation 14. Include provisions for people with disabilities to obtain funding for gym memberships and other community participation initiatives based on participant goals.

# 3. Why are there many more children in the NDIS than expected?

We propose two potential answers. First, an under-estimation of prevalence of children with disabilities. As an example, the Autism prevalence data used by the Productivity Commission in planning the NDIS rollout was 1 in 150. Our research shows that Autism prevalence at the time was significantly higher, and consistent with the international prevalence data at the time of 1 in 69.<sup>41</sup> A more recent Australian screening and prevalence study conducted from 2013 to 2018 found that 1 in 31 children are Autistic.<sup>42</sup> Based on a 4% false negative rate, this is still likely to be an underestimation, but is consistent with the most recent Centers for Disease Control and Prevention data of 1 in 36.<sup>43</sup> Using the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children data at age 12–13 years, May et al have reported a prevalence of 4.36%.<sup>44</sup> The second reason is that, as Minister Shorten so frequently states, the NDIS is the only lifeboat in the ocean. Without good community supports, everyone swims to where they can find refuge.

# 3.1 What is the best way to support children with disability and families?

# 3.1.1 Early screening, identification and timely provision of supports

The most efficient way to support all developmentally vulnerable children is to identify them and commence supports within their first 1000 days. Currently, the mean age of children within the Early Childhood Approach (ECA) is between 4 to 5 years! Fewer children will need longer-terms supports if this is achievable outcome is realised. Our research supports this. We found that Autistic children who access the group-based Early Start Denver Model (ESDM) embedded in childcare for one year make significant developmental gains across a variety of early learning and care settings, increasing their chances of participation<sup>45</sup> in mainstream settings, with an earlier age of access bolstering their outcomes<sup>46</sup>. Importantly, our research also shows these children continue to make significant cognitive gains into their school years,<sup>47</sup> a finding we have recently replicated in new (unpublished) research. We have also found that Autistic children who receive an early diagnosis (under 2 years of age), compared to those diagnosed between 3- to 5-years-old were:

- 3 times less likely to have an IQ < 70 at school-age</p>
- > 1.3 times more likely to be in a mainstream school.

Our research has revolutionised how early childhood professionals are trained to monitor the prodromal signs of Autism in very young children. The Social Attention and Communication Surveillance (SACS) studies are the foundation of the SACS-R (11 to 30 months old) and SACS-Preschool (3.5 to 5 years old) training programs on monitoring early social attention and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Barbaro et al (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Maenner et al. (2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> May et al (2020)

<sup>45</sup> Clark et al (2017; 2018)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Vivanti et al (2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Vinen et al (2018; 2022); Clark et al (2023)

communication behaviours as early markers of Autism. 48 Doing so from 12 months of age and through to second year of life is efficacious, with 82% of infants and toddlers identified at 12, 18 and 24 months having a confirmed Autism diagnosis.<sup>49</sup> Importantly, all children who were identified but not diagnosed with Autism had other developmental delays.

In 2018, OTARC successfully tendered to train all maternal and child health (MCH) nurses in Victoria using the SACS to improve access to Autism assessment, diagnosis, and early supports. After training, MCH nurses effectively incorporated SACS-R assessments into their work practice, completing 82,581 assessments within the first six months following training.

Based on the SACS methodology, we developed a free video-led app to enable parents to identify potential signs of Autism in their children prior to age 3-years of age. With over 110,000 downloads since its launch in February 2016, ASDetect<sup>50</sup> is empowering parents and caregivers around the world, with the application now available in English, Mandarin Chinese, Spanish and Slovak. The app guides parents through ageappropriate assessments, using videos of Autistic and non-Autistic children to illustrate key social attention and communication milestones. Parents receive an on-screen result of either a 'low' or 'high' likelihood of Autism, and a detailed email summarising the results designed to be shared with their family doctor. This integration with healthcare professionals ensures that caregivers receive the support and guidance necessary to make informed decisions about their child's care and ongoing support.51



# **Proposed solutions**

Recommendation 15. State and territory governments to implement Social Attention and Communication Surveillance (SACS) nationally as recommended by the Senate Select Committee for Autism via all primary health and early education and care (ECEC) professionals.

> All identified children are referred to the Early Childhood Approach for supports within their first 1000 days.

Recommendation 16. State and territory governments to promote the use of the ASDetect app for parents.

### 3.1.2 Education and training

One of the most effective approaches to supporting children with disabilities and their families is to enhance the knowledge and skills of professionals, particularly those in early childhood education and care (ECEC), through comprehensive training, including in inclusive practices. Fifty eight percent of Australian children are in ECEC by age 2-years. By enhancing their training, ECEC professionals can create supportive environments for neurodivergent children and families, fostering a sense of belonging.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Barbaro et al (2010; 2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Barbaro et al (2022)

<sup>50</sup> https://asdetect.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Barbaro & Yaari (2020)

# **Proposed solutions**

Recommendation 17. Implementation of Recommendation 12 of the Senate Select Committee on Autism - "...the Australian Government develop guidelines on autism-friendly service design through the National Autism Strategy in order to help service providers tailor services and service environments to meet the needs of autistic individuals."52

Recommendation 18. Implementation of Recommendation 9 of the Senate Select Committee on Autism - "...National Disability Insurance Agency continue to improve the capacity of its staff, including Local Area Coordinators, to provide better support to Autistic people. This should include a focus on both understanding and meeting Autistic participants' support coordination needs".53 In addition, we recommend:

> that this capacity building be extended to service providers delivering supports for NDIS participants.

# 3.1.3 Process streamlining and simplification

Simplifying the process for accessing inclusion support is essential within education settings like ECEC. Currently, this process can be unnecessarily complicated and time-consuming, often leading to discouragement and abandonment of the application. Streamlining these systems and making them less burdensome would ensure that families can readily access the assistance they need, and in a timely manner. A streamlined approach would save time and increase access to available resources, contributing to the overall well-being and success of children with disabilities and their families.

# **Proposed Solution**

Recommendation 19. The NDIS recommend review of the barriers to inclusion support and systematically remove or significantly reduce these barriers to facilitate more streamlined access to inclusion supports.

### 3.1.5 Schooling universal supports

See Section 1.1.1 for details.

### 3.1.6 Universally designed public spaces

Dedicating more effort to creating universally accessible environments in schools and other spaces could significantly diminish the impact of disability. In disability-friendly environments, the extent of disability naturally decreases by removing social and environmental barriers that contribute to disability. What remains of the disability is what requires additional supports. This change would bring about a reduction in the government's financial burden.

The key is understanding that by fostering inclusive and accessible environments, we simultaneously enhance the quality of life for everyone while significantly reducing the challenges associated with disability. By striving to create environments where everyone can thrive, we pave the way for a more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> The Senate Select Committee on Autism (2022)

<sup>53</sup> The Senate Select Committee on Autism (2022)

just and inclusive society that benefits everyone, particularly children with disabilities and their families.

# **Proposed Solution**

Recommendation 20. State, territory and local governments mandate all new developments and significant upgrades to existing developments of public spaces meet universal design principles.

# Pathway from early identification of concerns to early childhood supports

We need a national reset in the approach to early childhood, ensuring that all children have universal access to foundational supports through clearly articulated pathways. Instead of working around broken systems, those system not functioning well should be reset. This will undoubtedly have significant cost implications. However, investment in early childhood will foster longer-term positive outcomes for children and their families and, ultimately, the Australian community and its economy.

Regardless of where they live, all children should have access to a minimum number of maternal and child health (MCH) visits, where their development (social-emotional, language and physical development) and the primary caregiver's wellbeing are monitored throughout the first 3 years of life. In Victoria, these key ages and stages visits occur at 2 weeks, 4 weeks, 2 months, 4 months, 6 months, 8 months, 12-months, 18 months, 2 years, and 3.5 years.

Developmental surveillance (not screening) is critical as children develop at different rates; thus, onceoff screening is ineffective in identifying developmental concerns. Moreover, the emergence of neurodevelopmental conditions varies both between and within conditions. For example, some children will show early signs of autism at 6 months. In contrast, others will have neurotypical development within the first 18 months or so, with signs of autism becoming more evident towards the end of the second year.

In addition, opportunistic contact with children, such as during immunisation, should also be used to monitor development using validated tools, including in early childhood education and care settings (ECEC). The care setting is ideal due to increasing numbers of children accessing these as early as 6 to 12 months when parents' return to work following parental leave.

Varied tools are used within different systems to monitor development (e.g. Parents' Evaluation of Developmental Status PEDS; Ages & Stages; SACS) and undertake developmental assessments once concerns are identified (e.g. Brigance; Bailey). At this point, children should be referred immediately to the ECA. A developmental assessment is an important first step to determine those areas needing initial early short-term support.

Foundational supports should be community-based, delivered in children's everyday settings (e.g., home, ECEC, kindergarten - depending on the child's age), and informed by a transdisciplinary team. Focus should not just be on the individual child but also on families to build parental capacity to support children's development. Access to information for families is critical at this stage, with excellent, free information already available (e.g. Raising Children's Network). However, hands-on support for families should also be provided by registered Early Childhood Partners.

After a fixed period (approximately 3 months), the Early Childhood Partner will have good insight into the effective and appropriate next steps for the child and their family, be this continued early supports within the current setting or referral for a NDIS plan to enable access to more intensive supports.

# 4. Why aren't NDIS markets working?

# 4.1 What needs to be done to ensure NDIS markets serve the interests of people with disability, rather than the other way round? Where will markets not work?

When designing, structuring, and supporting NDIS markets, there must be careful consideration of its impact on community services. To support people with disabilities, NDIS markets must balance convenience and inclusive community participation, fostering empowerment, well-being, and equitable access.

### 4.1.1 Registered NDIS services

NDIS participants want to be free to choose their own supports and service providers; however, concerns arise when this approach exposes individuals vulnerable to exploitation due to a lack of safeguards.

Requiring NDIS registration for all providers is unrealistic and creates barriers to entry for new providers, further disadvantaging consumers in regional and remote communities.

Current barriers highlighted at our recent OTARC's NDIS Conversation included:

- Cost
- Complexity
- Time consuming
- Disproportionately difficult for smaller providers
- Process especially difficult for neurodivergent service providers.

There is a clear need for a division of services that require oversight and those that don't. For example, it is unnecessary to be registered for providing gardening services, but for a therapy-based support program, it is important that providers are registered and audited to ensure the provision of evidencebased care and the appropriate monitoring of outcomes.



We're accessing non-NDIS providers. Services for my son who are very affirming and very good, but I researched to know who to choose. Still, other people may be prone to exploitation by providers who don't do the right thing. I want to know why the process of registering is so laborious. That could be fixed if everyone can be registered and the process is not as laborious.

Associate Professor Josephine Barbaro - OTARC Principal Research Fellow and mother to an Autistic NDIS participant

It is unfortunate that many specialist service providers choose not to be NDIS registered. Moreover, families are unaware of the importance of selecting registered providers because there is insufficient information regarding the importance of registration, and also the paucity of available services means choice of services, registered or otherwise, is limited. Registered providers inform us that the monitoring of service delivery and service outcomes is rarely efficient, nor it is ambitious. The focus of monitoring is largely on administrative aspects of delivery rather than on the quality of the programs being delivered and the ensuing outcomes.

Based on the above, it is critical that the registration process is efficient, transparent and streamlined to ensure that service providers that meet the NDIS standards can register with ease to ensure the delivery of best practice.

# **Proposed Solutions**

**Recommendation 21.** Barriers to NDIS registration should be identified and minimised to facilitate registration by more providers who meet NDIS evidence-base standards.

Recommendation 22. The NDIS should introduce a more effective monitoring program of registered providers which focuses on evaluating the quality of the programs being delivered and the measurable outcomes for NDIS participants.

# 4.2 How can the scheme help participants become more independent; not more dependent?

### 4.2.1 Increase social acceptance and community participation

Valuing and recognising the differences of Autistic people while reframing Autism as something not in need of 'fixing' is crucial for preventing systematic discrimination and stigma faced by Autistic people. The fundamental social-communication differences between Autistic and non-autistic people (known as the "Double Empathy Problem" with emphasis in society that only one way of engaging in social-communication is the 'right' way (i.e. neurotypical social engagement) can play a role in segregating, ostracising, and isolating Autistic people from social and friendship circles. This can lead to feelings of loneliness and depression. Loneliness serves as a transdiagnostic risk factor for suicide. The social engagement is social engagement.

Research conducted by OTARC highlights that within the Autistic population, loneliness and inadequate social support stand as risk factors for suicide. <sup>58</sup> Moreover, bullying is prevalent among Australian Autistic youth, affecting 58% of those without an intellectual disability and 50% of those with an intellectual disability. <sup>59</sup>

It is likely that discrimination and stigma significantly contribute to the mental health struggles and isolation that Autistic individuals face, which consequently results in elevated rates of suicide compared to the general population. <sup>60</sup> To address these challenges, promoting societal changes that improve the comprehension and acceptance of differences, combined with implementing programs that facilitate peer connections, can effectively mitigate these risk factors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Hedley et al (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Milton (2012)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Mazurek (2014); Rai, et al (2018a; 2018b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Glenn et al (2017); Glenn et al (2018)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Hedley et al (2018b; 2018b; 2017a)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Richdale et al (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Hedley et al (2022)

# The Suicide Response Project: Inclusive approaches for an equitable society

Often, individuals with unique experiences, such as Autistic and sex/gender diverse individuals, face specific challenges that available approaches may not adequately address. In 2020, a collaborative team of researchers (two from OTARC), academics, and psychologists developed an innovative educational website focused on identifying and responding to suicide risk in others – **The Suicide Response Project**. 61

This pioneering resource was designed with a strong commitment to inclusion, ensuring the active involvement of individuals with lived experiences of suicide ideation and behaviour, including Autistic and sex/gender diverse individuals. The project prioritised the voices and participation of marginalised communities, recognising the importance of co-designing the resource with individuals with firsthand experience with suicide ideation and behaviour. It also included input from their families and people with lived experience of being bereaved by suicide or having supported someone after a suicide attempt.

The educational website encompasses 12 comprehensive modules, integrating multimedia elements, including animated videos, to enhance accessibility. The resource underscores the importance of equitable access to vital information by catering to diverse learning styles and communication preferences. It includes resources for professionals.

OTARC research partners Aspect and Untapped have promoted the resource's utilisation, and it is now also incorporated into the RUOK website. 62 This collaborative endeavour broadened the resource's reach and impact, ensuring it was accessible to a wider audience. As the resource continues to be promoted and utilised, its potential to save lives, raise awareness, and contribute to a compassionate and understanding society is undeniable.



<sup>61</sup> https://www.suicideresponseproject.com/

<sup>62</sup> https://www.ruok.org.au/neurodivergent

# **Proposed Solution**

Recommendation 23. NDIS plan development should incorporate community participation goals and active inclusion as a priority.

Recommendation 24. States and Territory governments to engage in an active public education campaign on Autism, with the support of the Australian Government Department of Social Services, to:

- dispel myths regarding a 'right way' to engage socially.
- increase awareness and acceptance of Autistic social-communication styles, with an aim to facilitate social inclusion of Autistic people.
- facilitate access to co-produced public mental health material specific to Autistic people, such as The Suicide Response Project.

# 4.2.2 What is evidence-based practice?

Evidence-based practice is difficult to define. The origins of evidence-based practice stem from medicine - "The practice of evidence-based medicine means integrating individual clinical expertise with the best available external clinical evidence from systematic research".63 We now understand that evidence-based practice involves a combination of factors. Research evidence is crucial, but so is the knowledge gained from practical experience in the field and the depth of knowledge held by those with lived experience. Clinicians and advocates with lived experience often pioneer novel ideas and sound, person-centred practices before they're formally recognised, which often outpaces formal research by several years. The research to practice gap is a staggering 17 years!64 Therefore, evidence is based on three equally important pillars<sup>65</sup> that should be underpinned at all times by lived experience:

- 1. Research evidence.
- 2. Clinical practice and expertise (trauma informed, culturally responsive, LGBTQIA+ inclusive).
- 3. Clients' values and preferences and lived experience.

This combination of research, lived experience, and clinical practice creates a well-rounded conceptualisation of evidence-based practice.

To ensure informed decision-making, the NDIS should evaluate evidence for practices based on the confluence of research findings, expert clinical consensus, and learnings from lived experience rather than relying on any of these factors alone. The NDIS should also play a role in educating the broader disability network, including families and service providers, of this nuanced meaning of evidencebased practice. It is in this way that participants and planners can make informed choices.

<sup>63</sup> Sackett (1997)

<sup>64</sup> Morris et al (2011)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Victoria State Government (Department of Health) (2021); American Speech-Language-Hearing Association

# **Proposed Solution**

Recommendation 25. The NDIS to adopt a definition of evidence-based practice that acknowledges the intersection of research evidence, clinical practice and expertise and the clients' values and preferences, ALL underpinned by lived experience.

### 4.2.3 Services in silos

A prevalent topic of discussion at OTARC's NDIS Conversation was the view that service providers, including allied health professionals, are siloed in their approaches. An observed trend among allied health service providers is their isolated presence in separate clinics, detached from the community and each other. Such clinic-based approaches result in a:

- lack of collaboration
- lack of skill generalisation
- failure to deliver using transdisciplinary approaches.

# **Proposed Solution**

Recommendation 26. States and territory governments to increase dedicated and ongoing financial support for non-profit organisations, prioritising those who use transdisciplinary approaches to take advantage of their deep knowledge of, and historical ties to, the disability sector.

# 4.2.4 Build family capacity

Currently, the sole focus in the NDIS is on the participants, regardless of their developmental stage. Building the capacity of families is core to enhancing the participant's independence. It is critical to enable families to build upon the participant's strengths and support their goals. Supporting families with culturally sensitive information, advice and skill development through offering services for them, especially via the community health and education sectors, which promotes them as key partners in securing the best developmental outcomes for the NDIS participant, will go a long way in promoting independence.

In the context of Autism, evidence-based initiatives developed under the Helping Children with Autism Package, such as the free Early Days Program for families of newly diagnosed children, provided crucial early support for families. They fostered connections to local supports, including peer supports, for participating families. These workshops were extremely popular and highly evaluated. They consistently demonstrated positive feedback, with parents reporting that the workshops provided, among many things, practical ideas, assisted with goal planning, and a valuable opportunity to connect with other parents and carers. Unfortunately, funding for delivering these workshops was terminated, resulting in the loss of a valuable resource for families.

# **Proposed Solutions**

Recommendation 27. Incorporate regular monitoring of service providers' evidence-based practice use, including active client outcomes monitoring. Expecting consumers to discern evidence-based practices that will control markets is unrealistic.

Recommendation 28. Extend service providers' registration to more allied health providers to ensure accountability through periodic audits and to promote inclusive and transdisciplinary practices.

Recommendation 29. Encourage collaborative efforts among all professionals to ensure holistic support for NDIS clients, including focusing on their families. Ultimately, this approach seeks to establish a dynamic, transparent, and diverse NDIS ecosystem that empowers individuals with disabilities and their families, ensuring their rights to quality support and well-informed decision-making.

# References

- Administrative Appeals Tribunal of Australia. (2019). *Milburn and National Disability Insurance Agency* [2018] AATA 4928 (20 December 2018). <a href="http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdoc/au/cases/cth/AATA/2018/4928.html">http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdoc/au/cases/cth/AATA/2018/4928.html</a>
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (Accessed Aug 2023). *Evidence-Based Practice (EBP)*. <a href="https://www.asha.org/research/ebp/#:~:text=Evidence%2Dbased%20practice%20(EBP)%20is%20the%20integration%20of,your%20training%20and%20professional%20experiences">https://www.asha.org/research/ebp/#:~:text=Evidence%2Dbased%20practice%20(EBP)%20is%20the%20integration%20of,your%20training%20and%20professional%20experiences</a>
- AusPlay. *The Sport and Physical Activity Landscape*. Accessed Aug 2023.

  <a href="https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrljoiZjJkNzA5MmEtZTJmNy00NGRjLWJiNWUtNTljNTVhYmU2MGZlliwidCl6IjhkMmUwZjRjLTU1ZjltNGNiMS04ZWU3LWRhNWRkM2ZmMzYwMCJ9">https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrljoiZjJkNzA5MmEtZTJmNy00NGRjLWJiNWUtNTljNTVhYmU2MGZlliwidCl6IjhkMmUwZjRjLTU1ZjltNGNiMS04ZWU3LWRhNWRkM2ZmMzYwMCJ9</a>
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation. (2023). VIDEO: Research finds disabled students endure bullying and exclusion. <a href="https://www.abc.net.au/news/2023-08-17/research-finds-disabled-students-endure-bullying-and-exclusion/102744586">https://www.abc.net.au/news/2023-08-17/research-finds-disabled-students-endure-bullying-and-exclusion/102744586</a>
- Australian Government. (2023). What we have heard: Moving from defining problems to designing solutions to build a better NDIS.

  https://www.ndisreview.gov.au/sites/default/files/resource/download/what-we-have-heard-report.pdf
- Australian Human Rights Commission. *Human rights based approaches*. Accessed August 2023 <a href="https://humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/human-rights-based-approaches">https://humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/human-rights-based-approaches</a>
- Australian Psychological Society. (2022). The case for psychologists in schools, *In Psyc 2020, 44*. <a href="https://psychology.org.au/for-members/publications/inpsych/2022/vol-44-spring-2022/the-case-for-psychologists-in-schools">https://psychologistg.in-schools</a>
- Australian Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools Association (APACS). (2021). *Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Submission 8*. <a href="https://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=c7fb63cb-fdd1-449d-abda-1478165efc5c&subId=704032">https://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=c7fb63cb-fdd1-449d-abda-1478165efc5c&subId=704032</a>
- Barbaro, J., Sadka, N., Gilbert, M., Beattie, E., Li, X., Ridgway, L., Lawson, L. P., & Dissanayake, C. (2022). Diagnostic Accuracy of the Social Attention and Communication Surveillance-Revised With Preschool Tool for Early Autism Detection in Very Young Children. *JAMA network open, 5*(3), e2146415. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.46415">https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.46415</a>
- Barbaro, J., & Yaari, M. (2020). Study protocol for an evaluation of ASDetect a Mobile application for the early detection of autism. BMC pediatrics, 20(1), 21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-019-1888-6">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-019-1888-6</a>
- Bury, S. M., Jellett, R., Spoor, J. R., & Hedley, D. (2023). "It Defines Who I Am" or "It's Something I Have": What Language Do [Autistic] Australian Adults [on the Autism Spectrum] Prefer?. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *53*(2), 677–687. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04425-3
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (reviewed April 2023). *Data & Statistics on Autism Spectrum Disorder.* Retrieved in August 2023 from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/ncbdd/autism/data.html">https://www.cdc.gov/ncbdd/autism/data.html</a>
- Clark, M. L., Barbaro, J., & Dissanayake, C. (2017). Continuity and Change in Cognition and Autism Severity from Toddlerhood to School Age. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *47*(2), 328–339. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2954-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2954-7</a>
- Clark, M. L. E., Vinen, Z., Barbaro, J., & Dissanayake, C. (2018). School Age Outcomes of Children Diagnosed Early and Later with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 48(1), 92–102. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3279-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3279-x</a>
- Clark, M., Vinen, Z., Vivanti, G., Dissanayake, C., & the Victorian ASELCC team. (2023). Prediction of Schoolage Outcomes for Autistic Children following Receipt of Group-Early Start Denver Model, Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-023-05993-w">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-023-05993-w</a>
- Commonwealth of Australia. (2022). Services, support and life outcomes for autistic Australians. <a href="https://parlinfo.aph.gov.au/parlInfo/download/committees/reportsen/024412/toc\_pdf/Services,supportandlifeoutcomesforautisticAustralians.pdf;fileType=application%2Fpdf">https://parlinfo.aph.gov.au/parlInfo/download/committees/reportsen/024412/toc\_pdf/Services,supportandlifeoutcomesforautisticAustralians.pdf;fileType=application%2Fpdf</a>
- Commonwealth of Australia (Department of Social Services). (2021). Australia's Disability Strategy 2021–203. <a href="https://www.disabilitygateway.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/2021-11/1786-australias-disability.pdf">https://www.disabilitygateway.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/2021-11/1786-australias-disability.pdf</a>

- Crompton, C., DeBrabander, K., Heasman, B., Milton, D., & Sasson, N. (2021). Double Empathy: Why Autistic People Are Often Misunderstood. *Front. Young Minds, 9.* <a href="https://kids.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frym.2021.554875">https://kids.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frym.2021.554875</a>
- Dissanayake, C., Richdale, A., Haschek, A., Ihsen, E., Barbaro, J., Hedley, D., et al (2020). *La Trobe University Olga Tennison Autism Research Centre (OTARC) response to the Select Committee on Autism.* La Trobe. Report. <a href="https://doi.org/10.26181/5f20f14745abe">https://doi.org/10.26181/5f20f14745abe</a>
- Eckermann, S., & Willan, A. R. (2022). Active Lives South Australia health economic analysis: an evidence base for the potential of health promotion strategies supporting physical activity guidelines to reduce public health costs while improving wellbeing. *Zeitschrift fur Gesundheitswissenschaften = Journal of public health*, *30*(7), 1791–1807. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-021-01649-0
- Glenn, C. R., Cha, C. B., Kleiman, E. M., & Nock, M. K. (2017). Understanding Suicide Risk within the Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) Framework: Insights, Challenges, and Future Research Considerations. *Clinical psychological science: a journal of the Association for Psychological Science, 5*(3), 568–592. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702616686854
- Hayward, S.M., Flower, R.L. (2023). A Systematic Review to Move Australian Disability Employment Forward for Autistic People. *Rev J Autism Dev Disord* . <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-023-00388-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-023-00388-0</a>
- Hayward, S. M., Flower, R. L., Denney, K. E., Bury, S., Richdale, A. L., Dissanayake, C., & Hedley, D. (2022). The Efficacy of Disability Employment Service (DES) Providers Working with Autistic Clients. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 1–14. Advance online publication. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05762-1">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05762-1</a>
- Hedley, D., Cai, R., Uljarević, M., Wilmot, M., Spoor, J., Richdale, A., Dissanayake, C. (2018c). Transition to Work: Perspectives from the Autism Spectrum. *Autism*, *22(5)* 528–541. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316687697
- Hedley, D., Cassidy, S., Templin, C., Hayward, S. M., Haschek, A., Bulluss, E., Den Houting, J., Kõlves, K., Maddox, B. B., Morgan, L., Moseley, R., Rabba, A. S., Rose, A., Stokes, M. A., and Young, R. L. (2022). Recommendations from the 2021 Australasian Society for Autism Research "Health, Wellbeing and Suicide Prevention in Autism" Conference and Roundtable. La Trobe University, Melbourne. <a href="https://doi.org/10.26181/19690432.v2">https://doi.org/10.26181/19690432.v2</a>
- Hedley, D., & Uljarević, M. (2018a). Systematic review of suicide in Autism Spectrum Disorder: Current trends and implications. *Current Developmental Disorders Reports, 5*, 65-76. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-018-0133-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-018-0133-6</a>
- Hedley, D., Uljarević, Bury, S., & Dissanayake, C. (2019). Longitudinal Predictors of Mental Health and Wellbeing in Employed Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Autism Research*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2064">https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2064</a>
- Hedley, D., Uljarević, M., Cameron, L., Halder, S., Richdale, A., & Dissanayake, C. (2017b). Employment programs and interventions targeting adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A systematic review of the literature. *Autism*, *21*(8), 929-941. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316661855
- Hedley, D., Uljarević, M., Wilmot, M., Richdale, A., & Dissanayake, C. (2017a). Brief Report: Social Support, Depression and Suicidal Ideation in Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 47(11), 3669–3677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3274-2
- Hedley, D., Uljarević, M., Wilmot, M., Richdale, A., & Dissanayake, C. (2018b). Understanding depression and thoughts of self-harm in autism: A potential mechanism Involving loneliness. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 46, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2017.11.003
- Flower, R. L., Hedley, D., Spoor, J., & Dissanayake, C. (2019). An alternative pathway to employment for autistic job-seekers: A case study of a training and assessment program targeted to autistic job candidates. *The Journal of Vocational Education and Training, 71*(3), 407-428, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13636820.2019.1636846">https://doi.org/10.1080/13636820.2019.1636846</a>
- Hedley, D., Spoor, J. R., Cai, R. Y., Uljarević, M., Bury, S., Gal, E., Moss, S., Richdale, A., Bartram, T., & Dissanayake, C. (2021). Supportive employment practices: Perspectives of employees with autism. *Advances in Autism*. Special Issue, 7(1), 28-40. https://doi.org/10.1108/AIA-09-2019-0029
- Kenny, L., Hattersley, C., Molins, B., Buckley, C., Povey, C., & Pellicano, E. (2016). Which terms should be used to describe autism? Perspectives from the UK autism community. *Autism: the international journal of research and practice, 20*(4), 442–462. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361315588200

- Lave J, Wenger, E. (1991). Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral Participation. Cambridge University
- Maenner, M. J., Warren, Z., Williams, A. R., Amoakohene, E., Bakian, A. V., et al. (2023). Prevalence and Characteristics of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among Children Aged 8 Years Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2020. Morbidity and mortality weekly report. Surveillance summaries (Washington, D.C.: 2002), 72(2), 1–14. <a href="https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss7202a1">https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss7202a1</a>
- May, T., Brignell, A., & Williams, K. (2020). Autism Spectrum Disorder Prevalence in Children Aged 12-13 Years From the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children. *Autism research: official journal of the International Society for Autism Research, 13*(5), 821–827. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2286">https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2286</a>
- McKenzie, G., Shields, N., & Willis, C. (2023). 'Finding what works for me' a qualitative study of factors influencing community gym participation for young adults with cerebral palsy. *Disability and rehabilitation*, *45*(12), 1984–1991. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2022.2083243">https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2022.2083243</a>
- Mckenzie, G., Willis, C., & Shields, N. (2021). Barriers and facilitators of physical activity participation for young people and adults with childhood-onset physical disability: a mixed methods systematic review. *Developmental medicine and child neurology*, *63*(8), 914–924. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.14830
- McKenzie, G., Willis, C., Yao, A., Munzel, F., Kennedy, R., & Shields, N. (2023). Identifying and prioritising strategies to optimise community gym participation for young adults with cerebral palsy: an e-Delphi study. *Disability and rehabilitation*, 1–9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2023.2193431">https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2023.2193431</a>
- Mazurek M. O. (2014). Loneliness, friendship, and well-being in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism: the international journal of research and practice, 18*(3), 223–232. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312474121">https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312474121</a>
- Milton, D.E.M. (2012). On the ontological status of autism: the 'double empathy problem'. *Disability & Society, 27*(6), 883-887. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2012.710008">https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2012.710008</a>
- Morris, Z. S., Wooding, S., & Grant, J. (2011). The answer is 17 years, what is the question: understanding time lags in translational research. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 104*(12), 510–520. https://doi.org/10.1258/jrsm.2011.110180
- National Disability Insurance Scheme. (reviewed 2021). What principles do we use to create your plan?

  <a href="https://ourguidelines.ndis.gov.au/how-ndis-supports-work-menu/what-principles-do-we-follow-create-your-plan/what-principles-do-we-use-create-your-plan">https://ourguidelines.ndis.gov.au/how-ndis-supports-work-menu/what-principles-do-we-follow-create-your-plan/what-principles-do-we-use-create-your-plan</a>
- National Disability Insurance Scheme. (reviewed 2021). *Gym membership*. <a href="https://ourguidelines.ndis.gov.au/would-we-fund-it/improved-health-and-wellbeing/gym-membership">https://ourguidelines.ndis.gov.au/would-we-fund-it/improved-health-and-wellbeing/gym-membership</a>
- National Disability Services. (2023). *Modest range of disability initiatives in Victorian 2023–24 budget.* <a href="https://www.nds.org.au/news/modest-range-of-disability-initiatives-in-victorian-2023-24-budget">https://www.nds.org.au/news/modest-range-of-disability-initiatives-in-victorian-2023-24-budget</a>
- Olney S, Mills, A & Fallon L (2022) *The Tier 2 tipping point: access to support for working-age Australians with disability without individual NDIS funding.* Melbourne Disability Institute, University of Melbourne. ISBN 978 0 7340 5695 5 http://library.bsl.org.au/showitem.php?handle=1/13114
- Positive Partnerships. (2023). *Positive Partnerships' Planning Tool.* <a href="https://planningtool.positivepartnerships.com.au/">https://planningtool.positivepartnerships.com.au/</a>
- Rai, D., Culpin, I., Heuvelman, H., Magnusson, C., Carpenter, P., Jones, H. J., Emond, A. M., Zammit, S., Golding, J., & Pearson, R. M. (2018a). Association of Autistic Traits with Depression from Childhood to Age 18 Years. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *75*(8), 835–843. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.1323
- Rai, D., Heuvelman, H., Dalman, C., Culpin, I., Lundberg, M., Carpenter, P., & Magnusson, C. (2018). Association Between Autism Spectrum Disorders With or Without Intellectual Disability and Depression in Young Adulthood. *JAMA network open*, 1(4), e181465. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.1465">https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.1465</a>
- Richdale, A., Haschek. A., Chetcuti, L., Lawson, L. (2022). Longitudinal Study of Australian School Leavers with Autism (SASLA): Final Report. Brisbane: Autism CRC. <a href="https://www.autismcrc.com.au/sites/default/files/reports/3-016\_SASLA\_Final-report.pdf">https://www.autismcrc.com.au/sites/default/files/reports/3-016\_SASLA\_Final-report.pdf</a>

- Rimmer, J., & Lai, B. (2017). Framing new pathways in transformative exercise for individuals with existing and newly acquired disability. *Disability and rehabilitation, 39*(2), 173–180. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2015.1047967
- Royal Life Saving Australia (Accessed 2023). *Autism Spectrum Disorder and Drowning.*<a href="https://www.royallifesaving.com.au/stay-safe-active/risk-factors/autism-spectrum-disorder-and-drowning">https://www.royallifesaving.com.au/stay-safe-active/risk-factors/autism-spectrum-disorder-and-drowning</a>
- Sackett D. L. (1997). Evidence-based medicine. *Seminars in perinatology, 21*(1), 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0146-0005(97)80013-4
- SchoolsVic (reviewed June 2023). School operations: Enrolment. https://www2.education.vic.gov.au/pal/enrolment/policy
- Shields, N., (2023). Getting Young People Moving- Supporting Participation and Access to Recreation Centres (GYM-SPARC) project funded by VicHealth Impact Research Grant 2021 to 2023 (unpublished data).
- Shields, N., Bhowon, Y., Prendergast, L., Cleary, S., & Taylor, N. F. (2023). Fostering positive attitudes towards interacting with young people with disability among health students: a stepped-wedge trial. *Disability and rehabilitation*, 1–8. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2023.2193429
- Shields, N., & Synnot, A. (2016). Perceived barriers and facilitators to participation in physical activity for children with disability: a qualitative study. *BMC pediatrics*, *16*, 9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-016-0544-7">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-016-0544-7</a>
- The Senate Select Committee on Autism (2022). Services, support and life outcomes for autistic Australians final report.

  <a href="https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary\_Business/Committees/Senate/Autism/autism/Report">https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary\_Business/Committees/Senate/Autism/autism/Report</a>
- The Age (2023). School zoning rules tightened to make it tougher to get in outside catchment areas.

  <a href="https://www.theage.com.au/national/victoria/school-zoning-rules-tightened-to-make-it-tougher-to-get-in-outside-catchment-areas-20230404-p5cy10.html">https://www.theage.com.au/national/victoria/school-zoning-rules-tightened-to-make-it-tougher-to-get-in-outside-catchment-areas-20230404-p5cy10.html</a>
- United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD). Accessed Aug 2023. <a href="https://social.desa.un.org/issues/disability/crpd/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities-crpd">https://social.desa.un.org/issues/disability/crpd/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities-crpd</a>
- Verschuren, O., Peterson, M. D., Balemans, A. C., & Hurvitz, E. A. (2016). Exercise and physical activity recommendations for people with cerebral palsy. *Developmental medicine and child neurology*, 58(8), 798–808. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.13053">https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.13053</a>
- Victoria State Government (Department of Health). (2021). *Implementing evidence-based practice*. <a href="https://www.health.vic.gov.au/patient-care/implementing-evidence-based-practice">https://www.health.vic.gov.au/patient-care/implementing-evidence-based-practice</a>
- Vinen, Z., Clark, M., & Dissanayake, C. (2022) Social and behavioural outcomes of school aged autistic children who received community-based early interventions. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*. *53*, 1809–1820. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05477-3
- Vinen, Z., Clark, M., Paynter, J., & Dissanayake, C.\* (2018). School age outcomes of children with Autism Spectrum Disorder who received community-based early interventions. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 48*(5), 1673-1683. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3414-8
- Vivanti, G., Dissanayake, C., & the ASELCC Team (2016). Outcome for children receiving the Early Start Denver Model before and after 48 months. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 46*(7), 2441-2449. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2777-6

# **Acknowledgments**

We would like to acknowledge our research participants whose invaluable contributions have made our work possible. Their commitment and willingness to share their time, experiences, and perspectives have significantly advanced our understanding of Autism and the potential impact of our research.

# **CONTRIBUTORS**

Professor Cheryl Dissanayake - Olga Tennison Endowed Chair in Autism Research

Professor Alison Lane - OTARC Director

Alexandra Haschek - OTARC Research Analytics Officer

Kristy Capes - Manager, La Trobe Community Children's Centre

Carolyne Jones - Clinical Manager, Victorian Autism Specific Early Learning and Care Centre

Clare Kermond - OTARC PhD candidate and casual academic

Dr Elfriede Ihsen - OTARC Adjunct Research Fellow

Dr Nancy Sadka - OTARC Senior Research Associate

Associate Professor Josephine Barbaro - OTARC Principal Research Fellow

Professor Nora Shields - OTARC Research Director

Helen Andrews - OTARC PhD candidate

**Dr Melissa Gilbert** – OTARC Postdoctoral Researcher

Associate Professor Jennifer Spoor - OTARC Research Director

Perrin Date - OTARC Research Operations Manager

Dianne Blackwell - OTARC PhD candidate

### RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS SUSTAINABLE GOALS







